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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JAMES MCCAULEY : 
vs. :

: CIVIL ACTION
OFFICER BERNARD FALLON :
EASTTOWN POLICE DEPT. :  NO.  99-990
OFFICER JOHN LYSACK :
EASTTOWN POLICE DEPT. :
INDIVIDUALLY :

GREEN, S.J. March 22, 2000

MEMORANDUM and O R D E R

Presently before the Court is Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment and pro se

Plaintiff’s response thereto.  For the foregoing reasons, the motion will be denied. 

I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

  The following facts are presented in the light most favorable to the non-moving party,

pro se plaintiff, James McCauley.  On March 15, 1997, Mr. McCauley returned to the residence

he once occupied with his wife, Gilberte McCauley, to discuss reconciliation and retrieve several

items of personal property.  A dispute arose over Mr. McCauley’s right to be present on the

property and his right to remove  a lawn edger from the premises.  Mrs. McCauley asked Mr.

McCauley to leave, but he refused, asserting that he possessed a legal right to be present in

the home.  Mrs. McCauley then called the Easttown Township Police Department to have Mr.

McCauley removed from the premises. 

Officer Fallon was dispatched by radio to the McCauley residence.  When he arrived,

Officer Fallon spoke with the parties to determine the nature of the dispute. Mr. McCauley

asserted that he wished to take a lawn edger from the premises and that he was prevented

from doing so by his estranged wife.  He further asserted that he possessed a legal right to

remain on the premises because he had an ownership and marital interest in the property.  Mrs.

McCauley told Officer Fallon that she owned the premises and did not wish for Mr. McCauley to



1 Mr. McCauley maintains that he was always willing to leave the premises, even if he
could not take the lawn edger, but he was unable to do so because the position of the police
vehicles in the driveway of the residence prevented him from moving his car.  Although he
admits that he never specifically asked the officers to move their vehicles, he claims that the
officers knew that he could not leave unless they moved the police vehicles out of the driveway. 
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take the edger.  

After allowing the parties to present their respective arguments, Officer Fallon explained

that Mr. McCauley could not take the lawn edger from the premises without proving that he

owned it. Mr. McCauley then attempted to persuade Officer Fallon to allow him to leave the

residence to obtain proof of ownership of the lawn edger.  Concluding that the dispute over

ownership of the lawn edger was a civil matter, Officer Fallon ultimately decided against

allowing Mr. McCauley to leave the premises to return with proof of ownership of the lawn

edger, and denied him permission to take the lawn edger. 

Later, Sergeant John Lysak arrived on the scene.  He spoke with Mrs. McCauley and

determined that she was the record owner of the property. Sergeant Lysak then informed Mr.

McCauley that he had an obligation to leave the premises when the property owner tells him to

and failure to do so is a crime. In a continued effort to gain permission to take the lawn edger,

Mr. McCauley attempted to persuade Sergeant Lysak to either give him permission to leave

with the lawn edger or leave the premises to obtain proof of ownership.  Sergeant Lysak denied

both of Mr. McCauley’s requests. 1

After determining that Mr. McCauley could not be persuaded to leave the premises

without the lawn edger, the officers placed him under arrest.  Mr. McCauley contends that

during the arrest, Officer Fallon and Sergeant Lysak shoved and slammed him into a police

vehicle, causing him to wrench his back.  Mr. McCauley was processed at the Easttown

Township Police Station and charged with defiant trespass pursuant to 42 Pa.C.S.A. §

3503(b)(1)(i).  
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At a preliminary hearing held on April 8, 1997, District Justice John Anthony found that

there was prima facie evidence to support the charge of defiant trespass, but ordered the case

continued for a period of sixty days.  Judge Anthony further ordered that the charge would be

dismissed if Mr. McCauley refrained from returning to his estranged wife’s residence and did

not engage in similar conduct during the sixty-day period.  At the expiration of sixty days, Judge

Anthony held a second hearing wherein the charges against Mr. McCauley were dismissed.

Mr. McCauley subsequently brought the instant action against Officer Fallon and

Sergeant Lysak in their individual capacities, asserting claims for false arrest and use of

excessive force in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and state common law claims for false arrest,

false imprisonment, assault and battery. The Defendants now move for summary judgment on

all of the plaintiff’s claims.

II LEGAL STANDARD

 Summary judgment is proper "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories,

and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue

as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c).  The moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law if the

nonmoving party fails to establish the existence of a genuine issue on an essential element of

his case on which he has the burden of proof at trial.  Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317,

106 S.Ct. 2548 (1986).  A genuine issue is not present unless the evidence, viewed in a light

most favorable to the nonmoving party, would allow a reasonable jury to return a verdict for that

party.  Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248-49, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 2510-11 (1986). 

If the evidence is merely colorable or is not significantly probative, summary judgment may be

granted. Id. at 249-50, 106 S.Ct. at 2510-11. 

III DISCUSSION

A. Plaintiff’s Section 1983 Claims Against Defendants Fallon and Lysak.
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In Count I of the plaintiff’s complaint, he alleges that the Defendant police

officers falsely arrested him and used excessive force in making the arrest, in violation of 42

U.S.C. § 1983. 

1. Plaintiff’s False Arrest Claim

In the instant case, Mr. McCauley alleges that he was falsely arrested and

charged with defiant trespass. "The proper inquiry in a  section 1983 claim based on false

arrest  . . .  is not whether the person arrested committed the offense, but whether the arresting

officers had probable cause to believe the person arrested committed the offense. Dowling v.

City of Phila., 855 F.2d 136, 141 (3d Cir.1988).  Therefore, to prevail at summary judgment on

the plaintiff’s false arrest claim in this case, the defendant officers must show that "at the

moment the arrest was made  . . .  the facts and circumstances within their knowledge and of

which they had reasonably trustworthy information were sufficient to warrant a prudent officer in

believing" that Mr. McCauley committed defiant trespass in violation of 18 Pa.C.S.A. § 3503(b). 

See Hunter v. Bryant, 502 U.S. 224, 228,  112 S.Ct. 534, 537 ( 1991).  

Under Pennsylvania law, a person commits the offense of defiant trespass if "knowing

that he is not licensed or privileged to do so, he enters or remains in any place as to which

notice against trespass is given . . . "   18 Pa.C.S. § 3503(b). According to the undisputed facts

in this case, Mr. McCauley arrived at his estranged wife’s residence and began to recover items

to which he claimed ownership.  Mrs. McCauley objected to Mr. McCauley’s presence and

asked him to leave.  After Mr. McCauley refused to leave the premises, Mrs. McCauley called

the Easttown Township Police Department, claiming that her husband was on the premises

without permission and she wished for him to leave. (Mrs. McCauley’s Dep. at 18).  After

engaging in dialogue with Mr. McCauley and his wife with regard to ownership of the premises

and certain items of personal property, the defendant officers determined that Mrs. McCauley
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owned the premises, that she did not wish for Mr. McCauley to remain present at her home,

and she disputed Mr. McCauley’s ownership of the property he wished to take. 

What remains in dispute, however, is whether Mr. McCauley voluntarily stayed on the

premises after the police gave him notice that he must leave.  Mr. McCauley contends that the

police actually prevented him from leaving because they thought he would return after obtaining

proof of his ownership of the lawn edger.  According to Mr. McCauley, he requested permission

from the defendant officers to leave the premises to obtain evidence of ownership of the lawn

edger and proposed that he be given permission to present the evidence to the officers at an

alternate location.  (Pl.’s Mem. in Opp. to M. Summ. J. at 13).  He concludes that the defendant

officers placed him under arrest for defiant trespass because they believed he would attempt to

return to the residence, despite his assurances that he would not return if permitted to leave.  

Based on the above-outlined facts, and drawing all inferences in the light most favorable

to the non-moving party in this case, I find that a reasonable jury could find that the facts and

circumstances within the officers’ knowledge at the time of Mr. McCauley’s arrest were

insufficient to cause a prudent officer to believe that Mr. McCauley committed defiant trespass

in violation of 18 Pa.C.S. § 3503(b).  Therefore, Defendants’ motion for summary judgment on

the false arrest claim will be denied.

2. Plaintiff’s Excessive Force Claim

In support of his excessive force claims, Mr. McCauley alleges that he offered no

resistance to the officers at any time, but the officers “shoved and slammed” him into a police

vehicle during his arrest, causing him to sustain back injuries which later required surgery. 

(Pl.’s Mem. in Opp. to Summ. J. at 17).  The defendant officers admit to placing Mr. McCauley

in handcuffs during the arrest, but deny any forcible shoving or slamming of the plaintiff into a

police vehicle.  
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The right to make an arrest carries with it the right to use some degree of physical

coercion or threat thereof to effect it.  Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 395, 109 S.Ct. 1865,

1870-71 (1989).  Therefore, excessive force in the course of an arrest is properly analyzed

under the Fourth Amendment reasonableness standard.  Id.  The reasonableness of the police 

officer's use of force is measured by "careful attention to the facts and circumstances of each

particular case, including the severity of the crime at issue, whether the suspect poses an

immediate threat to the safety of the officers or others, and whether he is actively resisting

arrest or attempting to evade arrest by flight."  Id.  And, although the reasonableness inquiry is

objective, it should give appropriate scope to the circumstances of the police action, which are

often "tense, uncertain, and rapidly evolving." Id. at 397, 109 S.Ct. at 1872.

Here, the evidence of record shows that the police engaged in lengthy discussion with

Mr. McCauley before placing him under arrest. When it appeared that the discussions were

failing to resolve the dispute at issue, the officers placed him under arrest.  The record shows

no evidence of Mr. McCauley’s attempt to resist or otherwise threaten the safety of the officers

or others at the time of the arrest. If the officers did, in fact, shove Mr. McCauley during the

arrest, a reasonable jury could find that the force used in effectuating the arrest was excessive.

Therefore, the defendants’ motion for summary judgment on the excessive force claim will be

denied.  

B. Plaintiff’s State Law Claims 

Defendants argue that summary judgment must be granted on all of Mr. McCauley’s

state law claims because the defendant police officers are immune from liability pursuant to The

Political Subdivision Tort Claims Act, 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 8541 et. seq.  The Political Subdivision

Tort Claims Act grants the City governmental immunity from liability for any damages resulting

from an injury to a person or property caused by any act of the Township, its employee, or any
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other person, except as specifically provided for under  42 Pa.C.S.A. § 8542.  This immunity

extends to an employee of the Township who is liable for civil damages caused by acts which

are within the scope of his office or duties.  However, an employee's immunity does not extend

to acts that are judicially determined to be crimes, actual fraud, actual malice, or willful

misconduct.   42 Pa.C.S.A. § 8550.

Mr. McCauley asserts that the defendant officers are not immune from liability in this

case because they acted willfully when they falsely arrested, falsely imprisoned, assaulted and

battered him.  Willful misconduct, for the purposes of tort law, has been defined by the

Pennsylvania Supreme Court to mean conduct whereby the actor desired to bring about the

result that followed or at least was aware that it was substantially certain to follow, so that such

desire can be implied. Renk v. City of Pittsburgh, 537 Pa. 68, 75, 641 A.2d 289, 293 (1994).

Under the Pennsylvania Supreme Court's approach, a police officer's tortious behavior may be

categorized as "willful misconduct" only when the officer subjectively intended to do something

he knew was wrongful. Id. at 76-77, 641 A.2d at 294.

In the instant case, whether the defendant officers were aware that their arrest and

alleged use of force against Mr. McCauley were wrongful is a question of fact for the jury. 

Therefore, I will deny the defendants’ motion for summary judgment on the plaintiff’s state law

claims. 

IV CONCLUSION

 For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ motion for summary judgment will be denied. 

An appropriate Order follows.

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JAMES MCCAULEY : 
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vs. :
: CIVIL ACTION

OFFICER BERNARD FALLON :
EASTTOWN POLICE DEPT. :  NO.  99-990
OFFICER JOHN LYSACK :
EASTTOWN POLICE DEPT. :
INDIVIDUALLY :

ORDER

 AND NOW, this _____ day of _______, 2000, upon consideration of the

Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment and the Plaintiff’s response thereto, IT IS

HEREBY ORDERED that the Motion is DENIED.   IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the

Deputy Clerk shall list this case for trial.

BY THE COURT,

__________________
CLIFFORD SCOTT GREEN, S.J.


